FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 3/6/2025 2:41 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/6/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Case #: 1039395

No. 58269-4-II Consolidated with: No. 58272-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON AT TACOMA

Kenneth Wren and Alice Wren, et al.

Petitioners.

vs.

DAVID G. WHITEHEAD, individually;

Respondent,

STANFORD AND SONS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; HERBERT L. WHITEHEAD, III, JENNIFER L. WHITEHEAD, et al.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

William A. Kinsel, WSBA #18077 Attorney for Respondents Wren Kinsel Law Offices, PLLC 2401 Fourth Avenue, Suite 850 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 706-8148

A. Identity of Petitioners

Petitioners Kenneth (Kenny) and Alice Wren seek review of two parts of the Court of Appeals' decision, the first a divided opinion affirming the judgment that Kenny Wren defamed David "Gage" Whitehead, and the second affirming the judgment that Gage's unperfected security interests as an alleged consignor of 12 vehicles held in the inventory of used automobile dealer Stanford and Sons (Stanford) *will* take priority over the Wrens' *perfected* security interests in the same vehicles, *if* Gage proves on remand that the transactions were truly consignments between Gage and Stanford.

The defamation issues raise significant questions under our federal and state constitutions, with the majority decision conflicting with published decisions of both the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court on issues of privilege, on the proper role of the court vis-à-vis the jury in determining when those privileges apply, and whether each element of a claim for defamation was proven to the required burden of proof for each

of Wren's statements. Review is accordingly appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

The secured transactions questions under RCW Chapter 62A.9A involve issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court because the appellate decision is a matter of first impression relying on an out-ofstate judicial authority that contradicts both RCW 46.12.520 (2) and RCW 62A.9A's provisions on consignments. Review is accordingly appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to resolve this important issue of commercial law.

B. Decision

Petitioners seek review of Division II's 2/4/25 opinion in <u>Wren v. Whitehead, et al.</u>, No. 58269-4-II/No. 58272-4-II ("Decision"), which contains the majority opinion of Judge Lee commencing at page 3, a concurring opinion of Judge Maxa commencing at page 73, and a partially-dissenting opinion of Chief Judge Cruser at page 78.

C. Issues Presented for Review

1. Defamation

Issue 1. When multiple statements were submitted to the jury as evidence of Wren's alleged defamation of Gage, did the trial court err by rejecting proposed Special Verdict Questions 55 & 56 requiring the jury to identify the statement(s) it found to be defamatory, which would have preserved the trial and appellate courts' ability to fulfill their responsibility to determine if the relevant statement(s) were privileged as a matter of law?

Issue 2. Did the appellate court err when it failed to verify that each allegedly defamatory statement met each of the elements of defamation to the constitutionally-required burden of proof?

Issue 3. Is each of Wren's allegedly-defamatory statements protected by one or more of the absolute or qualified privileges provided by the U.S. Constitution, First Amendment (freedom of speech and right to petition), or by

the Washington Constitution's protection of free speech and judicial access under WA Const. Art. I, §5 and §10?

Issue 4: A key difference between absolute and qualified privileges is that an absolute privilege cannot be abused or lost, while a qualified privilege can be lost through abuse. Given that fundamental distinction, is the republisher privilege absolute or qualified when a complaint is republished in full?

Issue 5. Was Wren absolutely privileged under the litigation or republisher privilege to share an accurate and complete copy of his complaint, and did the courts err by rejecting Wren's proposed Instruction 55, CP2991, informing the jury that such additional republications were absolutely privileged?

Issue 6. Did the majority err by determining that the jury, rather than the court, was the proper body to decide whether each statement was one of fact or nonactionable opinion?

Issue 7: Are predictive statements of future events nonactionable statements of opinion?

Issue 8: Can *Wren* be held liable in defamation for *Brautigan's* statement, whose statement in any event is privileged under the U.S. Constitution First Amendment's rights to free speech and petition?

2. Consignment Sales

Issue 9: The Wrens had a perfected security interest in Stanford's inventory. Gage claimed priority as the consignor of 12 vehicles in Stanford's inventory, even though he never perfected his alleged security interests through Consignor's Purchase Money Security Interests in inventory. Was it error to instruct the jury and to hold that Gage's alleged, unperfected interests as a consignor could take priority over Wrens' perfected interests, despite the explicit requirement of RCW 46.12.520 (2) that "[a] security interest in a vehicle held as inventory by a manufacturer or dealer [here Stanford] must be perfected as described in Chapter 62A.9A RCW"?

Issue 10: Did the courts err by allowing the jury to find Gage's interests in the twelve alleged "consignment cars" to be superior to Wrens' interests simply by answering "yes" to the question: "Did Plaintiff Wren know Stanford and Sons, LLC was substantially engaged in consigning vehicles before July 11, 2019," when that special verdict question is contrary to RCW 46.12.520 (2), RCW 62A.9A.102(20)(A)(iii) and Amended Official Comment 14 to §9-102?

D. Statement of the Case

1. Gage's Alleged Consignments

In 2015 Kenneth Brautigan approached Wren for a flooring loan to purchase inventory for Stanford's used vehicle dealership named Puyallup Car and Truck ("PCAT"). VTP5 at 650-651. Wren made two loans, one for \$1,200,000 in March 2016 and another for \$500,000 in February 2017 that were each secured by Stanford's assets via a perfected UCC-1 lien. VTP5, 651-652; VTP1, 53-74; Exhibits 60-62, 65, 67, 88-91, 100, 109-110, 271, 273. Gage's father Butch helped Brautigan set up Stanford. VTP4, 457-458. In 2017 Gage, then 19, went to work for Stanford. In February 2018 that stopped when Butch decided to teach Gage to buy cars at wholesale in Canada and resell them in Washington. (CP1724, ¶¶2-4.) By early July 2019 Stanford's financial situation had unraveled. With Stanford about to default, Butch told Brautigan that Stanford owed Gage \$132,000. Gage claimed to own twelve vehicles in Stanford's inventory, even though Gage did not perfect his interests under the UCC. VTP4, 409-410, 415, 442; CP1726-27; CP2680; CP2682; Exhibits 306, 21-25. Brautigan disputed Butch's claim, demanding an accounting. VTP5, 597-602.

On 7/16/19 Stanford defaulted. Wren asked Brautigan to assemble all available collateral and convey it in lieu of foreclosure. The collateral included a truck, a boat, a trailer, and assets including the disputed twelve vehicles. VTP5, 603-608; Exhibits 271, 273, 287. On 7/16/19, to avoid conflict, the parties agreed that Wren would take six vehicles and Gage would take the other six while Gage's claims were investigated. VTP5, 657-658. Neither Wren nor Brautigan found any evidence supporting Gage's ownership of the twelve vehicles, nor was there any evidence the vehicles were consigned to PCAT.

Instead, the evidence demonstrated the vehicles were purchased by Stanford in Canada using funds from Stanford's Canadian bank account. The relevant exhibits, including 245-249, show that Gage's name appears nowhere in the purchaseand-sale documentation. VTP4 at 444, 516-517. Gage never held legal title to the vehicles, and never had a security interest, let alone a perfected one, in any one of the vehicles. VTP4, 444-445. The twelve *wholesale* purchase agreements contrast sharply with the consignment contract at Exhibit 53, which complies with WAC 308-66-155(b). VTP2, 200-210; CP2174-5. Wren and Brautigan concluded the vehicles were properly subject to conveyance to Wren pursuant to Wren's perfected UCC-1 security interest. VTP4, 415, 421-427; VTP5, 603-608, 658-659.

In late July 2019, Butch and Gage met with Wren and his business attorney James Aiken. Butch asked permission to take the truck, the boat and trailer, which had been owned by Stanford before conveyance to Wren, on vacation in Eastern Washington. Wren agreed, so long as Butch insured them, and so long as Butch either purchased or returned them to Wren in early August 2019. Instead, the Whiteheads' absconded to Arizona with them, where they were left. VTP5 at 659-662. This was the context in which Wren made the statements that were allegedly defamatory.

2. Wren's Allegedly-Defamatory Statements

Six exhibits were admitted at trial that Gage alleges defamed him, namely Exhibits 519-520, 522-523, 525 and 527. Exhibits 519 and 525 were post-filing "republications" by Wren of complete copies of the complaint. As referenced at Decision, p. 80, Wren testified to giving a copy to Wheeler, but no exhibit was admitted. VRP8, 1019-20.

Exhibits 520, 522-523 are pre-filing text messages between Wren and Ford, Schaefer or Kriens. Exhibit 527 is not Wren's statement. It is instead a draft letter prepared by Brautigan, who sent the same to Wren and Wren's expert Nikki Asquith for their review. Brautigan, not Wren, later sent that letter to unidentified Canadian residents. VRP8, 1002-1005, 1108-1110.

....

3. Verdict

In its Special Verdict, the jury found that Wren knew that Stanford "was substantially engaged in consigning vehicles," that Gage committed willful misconduct when he converted (stole) Wren's truck, boat and trailer, that Wren defamed Gage, and that Gage was awarded \$403,166.67 in damages. (CP511-514, Questions 1, 7, 12, 13.)

E. Argument

1. Review of the Defamation Issues Should be Accepted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3)

Judge Cruser's Dissent properly analyzes the defamation issues, except that the analysis also needs to include (a) Article I, §10 of the Washington Constitution, (b) the right to petition protected by the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, incorporating the right to conduct pre-filing investigations, and (c) controlling published appellate and state supreme court decisions that solidify Judge Cruser's conclusions.

Judge Maxa's concurrence to the majority decision is noteworthy because it makes explicit the key erroneous underpinnings of the majority. Because those errors are contrary to controlling, published appellate and state supreme court decisions, review should be accepted and the decision reversed.

The defamation plaintiff must prove falsity, an unprivileged communication, fault, and damages. <u>Maison de</u> <u>France, Ltd. v. Mais Oui!</u>, 126 Wn.App. 34, 43-44, 108 P.3d

787 (2005). Washington case law distilled these elements from the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 558 (Am. L. Inst. 1976), and in doing so "omits concepts that have long been part of the law of defamation" including the basic requirement that the statement be defamatory in order to be actionable.

<u>Schmalenberg v. Tacoma News</u>, 87 Wn.App. 579, 588-89, 943
P.2d 350 (1997). The issues to be resolved are questions of law to be decided by the Court. <u>Valdez-Zontek v. Eastmont Sch.</u>
<u>Dist.</u>, 154 Wn.App. 147, 162, 225 P.3d 339 (2010)(privilege);
<u>Benjamin v. Cowles Publ'n Co.</u>, 37 Wn.App. 916, 922, 864
P.2d 739 (1984)(nonactionable opinion).

2. The Alleged Defamatory Statements are Either Nonactionable or Not Defamatory

a. Wren Cannot Be Liable for Brautigan's Privileged Statement

<u>Schmalenberg</u> observed that the fundamental concepts of defamation "generate two basic questions: (1) Did the defendant make a false statement that caused damage to the plaintiff's reputational or other compensable interest? (2) If so, should the defendant be held liable for the damage? The first question addresses whether the defendant engaged in wrongful conduct, and whether that conduct caused harm to the plaintiff. Its facets include, at a minimum, (a) whether the defendant uttered the statement in issue; (b) whether the statement in issue was false in whole or in part; and (c) whether the statement's falsity, if any, was a cause of damage to the plaintiff." <u>Id.</u>, p. 589 (cite omitted).

Exhibit 527 is a 12/15/19 email from Brautigan to Wren and expert witness Asquith. Brautigan attached a draft letter <u>Brautigan</u> sent in the pre-litigation investigation in Canada into what happened to Stanford's funds. VTP7, 983-984. The draft mentions no one by name. Brautigan writes that "[i]n July of this year I was forced to close my dealership due to embezzlement and fraud committed by several people associated with my company." Wren testified that he looked at the draft, understanding it to mean Butch and Murphy Russell. VTP8, 1003-6. Gage called no witness who received the letter to testify about whether s/he associated the letter with Gage.

As a matter of law, Brautigan's letter to the Canadian sellers cannot support a defamation judgment because Wren did not utter that statement. <u>Schmalenberg</u>, 87 Wn.App. at p. 589. Brautigan's letter was also true because US Bankruptcy Judge Lynch entered an adversary judgment holding that Butch had committed multiple acts of fraud and embezzlement in Canada. CP3573-3575, 3610. Finally, Gage failed to prove this letter caused him damage because he called no recipient of that letter to confirm that the person received, read and attributed the acts described to Gage, and who as a result refused to sell Gage another car.

Turning to privilege, if Brautigan's letter is Wren's statement, Wren is privileged to conduct a pre-filing investigation that is required not only by Civil Rule 11(a), but more fundamentally protected by the right to petition contained within U.S. Constitution, First Amendment. As

observed in Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reporters, LLC, 179

Wn.App. 41, 80-81, 316 P.3d 1119 (2014).

The United States Constitution protects an individual's right "to petition the government for a redress of grievances." U.S. Const. amend. I. As previously mentioned, the First Amendment right to petition includes the right to access the court system. <u>Guarnieri</u>, 131 S.Ct. at 2494; <u>Primus</u>, 436 U.S. at 426, 98 S.Ct. 1893; <u>Addleman</u>, 139 Wash.2d at 753–54, 991 P.2d 1123.

The <u>Dillon</u> court then turned to California law, which is like the US Constitution regarding the right to petition, to determine if that federal right includes the right to investigate. <u>Id.</u>, 81. The California cases also relate to that state's anti-SLAPP statute, the Washington version of which is at RCW 4.24.510. Judge Cruser analyzed RCW 4.24.510 in connection with Wren's effort to reach the Puyallup Police Department via Schaeffer at Exhibit 522. For purposes of Exhibit 527, the point is that acts of investigation like writing letters and making phone calls is covered by the federal right to petition contained within the First Amendment. <u>Id.</u> at 83.

b. Wren Was Privileged to Distribute the Complaint

As applied by the majority, at the intersection of the absolute litigation privilege and the republisher, aka Fair Reporting privilege lies an unprotected gray zone where a plaintiff, who is about to or who has already filed his absolutely-privileged complaint, is subject to liability in defamation for handing a copy of that privileged pleading to an interested member of the public or press. The majority would grant the parties receiving the complaint the protection of the republisher privilege for further distributions, but ironically impose liability on the absolutely-privileged litigant for the simple act of handing it over.

The creation of such a zone of liability for an absolutelyprivileged litigant not only burdens legitimate free speech protected by the US Constitution's First Amendment and WA Const. Art. I, §5, but also unduly burdens the interests of individuals and the public entitled to prompt access to court filings, as is guaranteed by our state constitution: Justice in all cases shall be administered openly, and without unnecessary delay.

Washington Constitution Art. I, §10, emphasis added. The

Dissent confronts this dilemma head-on:

The majority's ruling subjects anyone to liability in defamation who, suspecting that they have suffered a legal wrong but without the benefit of discovery, drafts a complaint in good faith that turns out to have been incorrect and shares the complaint with someone else prior to the court taking any action in the matter. This approach encroaches too far into the realm of constitutionally protected speech.

(Decision, 86.) Judge Cruser grounds her analysis at p. 83 by observing that a party in court proceedings is "clothed with absolute immunity for any defamatory statements made in the course of official proceedings, provided the statements pertain to the subject matter of the proceedings", *quoting* <u>Herron v.</u> <u>Tribune Pub. Co., Inc.,</u> 108 Wn.2d 162, 177, 736 P.3d 249 (1987).

Judge Cruser then considers whether the privilege protecting republishers applies to Wren's distribution of the complaint. She observes that whether a privilege exists is a question of law to be decided by the court when the facts are not in dispute. Valdez-Zontek, 154 Wn.App. at 162. Here there is no dispute that the post-filing distributions were accurate and complete copies of the complaint. Likewise, Gage made no showing that the complaint sent to Schaefer in Exhibit 522 differed at all from the filed version. As a matter of law, the republisher privilege as defined by §611 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts (Am. Law Int. 1977) should apply. Judge Cruser so concludes at Decision, 86, quoting §611 comment a, which echoes Washington Constitution Art. I, §10: "This privilege exists to "serve the public's interest 'in having information made available to it as to what occurs in official proceedings.""

In defense of the Decision, Judge Maxa works through these difficult questions at pp. 74-75, but his analysis quickly runs into trouble. For instance, in response to the Dissent he observes that comment e to §611 does not apply "before any judicial action has been taken." Comment e, however, runs headlong into Washington Constitution Art. I, §10, which requires judicial proceedings to be "administered openly, and <u>without unnecessary delay.</u>" Comment e holds no weight before this constitutional requirement, especially when the alternative is a rule that has no clear trigger given that many cases see no judicial action until they are well advanced or ready for trial. The Art. I, §10 right to know of the press and public requires a bright line rule of no later than the time of filing.

Finally Judge Maxa relies on comment c to §611, stating "[a] person cannot confer this privilege upon himself" by republishing his complaint, and on the assumption that no Washington cases have addressed comment c, to conclude that Wren is not protected by the republisher privilege. This conclusion is contradicted by Washington Constitution Article I, §10, and by published appellate decisions not considered by the panel. One case is McNamara v. Koelher, 5 Wn.App. 2d 708,

715, 429 P.3d 6 (2018), where the defendant in a pending wrongful death lawsuit sued for defamation the law firm representing the wrongful-death plaintiffs as a result of the republication of a summary of the wrongful-death complaint on the firm's website. The firm moved for summary judgment, contending its website contained a fair abridgment of the complaint and protected by the Fair Reporting privilege.

> "[B]ecause the filing of a pleading is a public and official act in the course of judicial proceedings, the fair reporting privilege attaches to pleadings even if the court has yet to act on them." <u>Clapp v.</u> <u>Olympic View Publ'g Co.</u>, 137 Wash.App. 470, 476, 154 P.3d 230 (2007). <u>See also</u> Wash. Const. art. I, § 10 ("Justice in all cases shall be administered openly, and without unnecessary delay.").

Id., 715. McNamara responded at p. 716, n. 7, that under comment c to §611, a party may not rely on the privilege by making the original defamatory publication himself and then reporting what was stated in the original publication.

McNamara contended that because the firm prepared the

complaint, it could not invoke the fair reporting privilege to

protect republication on its website. The <u>McNamara</u> Court disagreed and declined to adopt comment c. Dismissal of the defamation claim was affirmed, with the clear implication that that ruling would apply to the firm's client as well. How, then, can Wren not also be covered by the fair reporting privilege?

Finally, Judge Maxa sought at Decision 76 to dispense with Wren's proposed instruction 55, reading in relevant part that "the absolute privilege appl[ies] to statements made after this lawsuit was filed on January 17, 2020," by stating that the republisher privilege is a *qualified* privilege, not an absolute privilege, making the instruction incorrect. Again, the majority missed controlling case law.

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