FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/1/2025 2:20 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Supreme Court No.: 103939-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Kenneth Wren & Alice Wren, et al.

Petitioners,

VS.

David G. Whitehead, individually;

Respondent,

Stanford and Sons, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; Herbert L. Whitehead, III, Jennifer L. Whitehead, et al.

Appealed from Pierce County Superior Court Case No. 20-2-04347-3

RESPONDENT DAVID "GAGE" WHITEHEAD'S RESPONSE TO WRENS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas L. Dashiell, WSBA #49567 DAVIES PEARSON, P.C. 1498 Pacific Ave., #520 Tacoma, WA 98402 253-620-1500 TDashiell@dpearson.com

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

II. ARGUMENT

Wren submits to this Court that the issues surrounding the defamation claim trigger RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3) and the priority issues surrounding the consigned vehicles trigger RAP 13.4(b)(4). However, other than simply announcing them, Wren fails to establish that any of these provisions apply. The rulings in this case are not in conflict with any other decisions by the Court of Appeals or this Court. Nor are there constitutional issues at stake or a substantial public interest.

A. Defamation

Juries determine questions of fact, and the amount of damages that should be awarded to a party is a question of fact. *Bunch v. King County Dep't of Youth Servs.*, 155 Wn.2d 165, 179, 116 P.3d 381 (2005). An appellate court may not overturn a jury verdict unless the verdict is outside the range of substantial evidence in the record, shocks the conscience of the

court, or seems to result from passion or prejudice. Washburn v. Beatt Equip. Co., 120 Wn.2d 246, 268-69, 840 P.2d 860 (1992). Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to convince a fair-minded person of the truth of the matter. Bunch v. King County Dep't of Youth Servs., 155 Wn.2d 165, 179-180, 116 P.3d 381 (2005). A trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed on appeal for abuse of discretion. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Gregg Roofing, Inc., 178 Wn. App. 702, 728, 315 P.3d 1143 (2013), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1011 (2014).

In the present case, there was substantial evidence of Wren defaming Gage, and the trial court properly instructed the jury. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals applied the law correctly.

i. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with appellate or Supreme Court precedent.

As a preliminary matter, only the majority opinion is of consequence to the determination of whether the case merits review. "The precedent which binds the court . . . is that spoken

by the majority," and "the meaning of a majority opinion is not found in a dissenting opinion." *Cole v. Harveyland, LLC*, 163 Wn. App. 199, 207, 258 P.3d 70 (2011) (internal quotation omitted). Further, concurrences are only relevant where there is no majority opinion or rationale. *Davidson v. Hensen*, 135 Wn.2d 112, 128, 954 P.2d 1327 (1998).

Wren has not cited to any case or authority for his position, relying heavily on a dissenting opinion by Judge Cruser. Judge Cruser's dissenting opinion—which has her evaluating evidence and taking the place of the jury—is not convincing either. Judge Cruser takes liberties on factual issues and makes assumptions. For instance, Judge Cruser suggests that when Wren contacted Mr. Schaeffer and Mr. Iking, his statements to them and circulation of a draft complaint are protected under RCW 4.24.510, intimating that Wren was "too traumatized to communicate with law enforcement directly." Judge Cruser would be wrong in this instance. Wren filed a police report with the Puyallup Police Department and an

Arizona police department well before his communications with Mr. Schaeffer and Mr. Iking. VRP 977. Judge Cruser also suggests that the letter Wren directed Brautigan to send out should not be attributable to Wren—glossing over the fact that Wren directed Brautigan to draft the letter and then made revisions to it. In any event, Wren's reliance on the dissenting opinion is of no relevance, as the majority opinion is the precedent which binds the court. As discussed below, the majority opinion is without error.

a. In evaluating the Trial Court's rulings on the CR 50 motion and the jury's award of damages, the Court of Appeals accurately stated and applied the law in a manner consistent with appellate and Supreme Court precedent.

The issues Wren presents for review largely rest on the contention that the appellate court must "verify that *each* allegedly defamatory statement met each of the elements of defamation." Petition for Review at 3. However, the standard for evaluating a CR 50 motion is whether, "viewing evidence in

a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference that arises to support a verdict for the nonmoving party." Appellate Decision at 19 (citing *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*, 196 Wn.2d 864, 877, 479 P.3d 656 (2021)). Therefore, the appellate court accurately concluded that, "the trial court should only have granted [Wren's] CR 50 motion to dismiss [Respondent's] defamation claim if nothing in the record could possibly support [Wren's] potential liability for defamatory statements based on the application of absolute or qualified privilege." Appellate Decision at 19.

Similarly, the appellate court accurately stated the standard for determining whether sufficient evidence supports the jury verdict: "A jury verdict will be overturned 'only when it is clearly unsupported by substantial evidence." Appellate Decision at 24 (quoting *Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co.*, 123 Wn.2d 93, 107-08, 864 P.2d 937 (1994)).

Wren has failed to cite any authority which conflicts with the above statements of the law. Wren cites Dunlap, but that case surrounds whether a statement is unactionable as pure opinion and does not speak to whether all statements must be analyzed in order to meet the standards outlined by the appellate court in this case. See Dunlap v. Wayne, 105 Wn.2d 529, 538-39, 716 P.2d 842 (1986). Schmalenberg illustrates that Wren's misstatement of the law is derived from cases in which the appellate court reviewed rulings that the evidence was insufficient to support claim for defamation. See a Schmalenberg v. Tacoma News, Inc., 87 Wn. App. 579, 587, 943 P.2d 350 (1997) (analyzing each statement in the light most favorable to plaintiff where trial court ruled evidence insufficient).

Wren advances the inaccurate standard that the appellate court must review every statement to make the argument that "[w]hen it is impossible to know, in view of the general verdict returned whether the jury imposed liability on a permissible or

an impermissible ground, the judgment must be reversed and the case remanded." Petition for Review at 22-23. (quoting *Miller* v. Argus Publ'g Co.,79 Wn.2d 816, 834, 490 P.2d 101 (1971) (internal quotations omitted)). Wren misapplies this rule. In Miller, the trial court gave two alternate instructions, one involving actual malice for if the jury found the plaintiff to be a public figure and one without actual malice if the jury did not so find. Miller, 79 Wn.2d at 824. The appellate court held that actual malice was necessary for every statement as a matter of law, and, because it was possible the jury found for the plaintiff without finding that higher level of culpability, that remand was necessary. Miller, 79 Wn.2d at 827, 834. The court in Miller based this conclusion on the decision in Greenbelt, in which actual malice was required as a matter of law for all statements and the trial court incorrectly defined actual malice to allow the jury "to find liability merely on the basis of a combination of falsehood and general hostility." Greenbelt Co-op. Pub. Ass'n v. Bresler, 398 U.S. 6, 10, 90 S. Ct. 1537, 1540, 26 L. Ed. 2d 6

(1970). These cases stand for the proposition that where actual malice is necessary for every statement, and the jury may have held for the plaintiff without finding actual malice, remand is necessary. They do not support the contention that an appellate court must analyze each statement (1) where there is sufficient evidence for the jury to find for the plaintiff on the basis of statements that do not require actual malice, or (2) where actual malice was properly defined.

Therefore, issues the majority did not address are irrelevant. Where the majority opinion did not address the subject of Wren's presented issues, it need not have done so. Thus, Wren has not demonstrated the decision conflicts with precedent or merits review. The most notable of the irrelevant issues raised by Wren are (1) whether Wren was protected by "republisher's privilege" when circulating the filed complaint, (2) whether republisher's privilege is conditional, and (3) whether Wren could be held liable for Brautigan's statements. See Petition for Review at 3-5. Indeed, the majority specifically

"emphasize[d] that [it] do[es] not address whether circulating a filed complaint, which at that point is in the public record, could support a defamation claim." Appellate Decision at 20 n.18.

In holding that the evidence could support Wren's potential liability for defamatory statements for the CR 50 motion, the majority focused on the numerous text messages sent by Wren months before filing the complaint. The majority concluded that the texts "implie[d] that [Respondent] was falsely claiming the cars belonged to him" and that "[Respondent] was involved in criminal activity including fraud, embezzlement, and forgery." Wren also admitted to making oral statements to Mr. Kriens and others stating or implying that Gage was a thief and engaged in criminal misconduct. While Wren contends the appellate court failed to properly differentiate between fact and nonactionable opinion, the majority correctly recited the established rule that statements which imply provable facts are not opinion. Appellate Decision at 18 (citing Schmalenberg v. Tacoma News, Inc., 87 Wn. App. 579, 590-91, 943 P.2d 350

(1997). Wren cites several cases discussing nonactionable opinion but fails to cite authority conflicting with *Schmalenberg*. Wren at 23-25. In fact, Wren relies on *Schmalenberg* for multiple propositions. Petition for Review at 12, 14.

Continuing its CR 50 analysis, the majority held that absolute privilege did not apply to these statements because they "were made outside judicial proceedings" and noted that Wren "has not cited to any cases where absolute privilege has been extended to statements made prior to a complaint being filed." Appellate Decision at 20. The majority held that qualified privilege did not apply to these statements because Wren "fail[ed] to articulate how he shared a common interest, family interest, or protected the public interest through his communications with individuals who were not otherwise involved with [Respondent]," which was the basis for qualified privilege articulated by Wren on appeal. Appellate Decision at 20.

In holding that there was sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict, the majority looked to the same texts "implying fraud, embezzlement, and forgery." Appellate Decision at 24-25. The appellate court was under no obligation to restate its analysis from the CR 50 motion of these same statements, and yet it again held there was sufficient evidence of unprivileged communication, as well as of fault, negligence, damages, and defamation per se. Appellate Decision at 24. The appellate court declined to disturb the jury award on the basis of well-established law:

The credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to the evidence are matters within the province of the jury and even if convinced that a wrong verdict has been rendered, the reviewing court will not substitute its judgment for that of the jury, so long as there was evidence which, if believed, would support the verdict rendered.

Appellate Decision at 24 (emphasis added, italics in original) (quoting *Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co.*, 123 Wn.2d 93, 107-08, 864 P.2d 937 (1994). The appellate court further outlined the proper standard, stating it "will not disturb a jury award of

damages 'unless it is outside the range of substantial evidence in the record, or shocks the conscience of the court, or appears to have been arrived at as the result of passion or prejudice." Appellate Decision at 25 (quoting *Bunch v. King Cnty. Dep't of Youth Servs.*, 155 Wn.2d 165, 179, 116 P.3d 381 (2005) (internal quotation omitted)).

Wren has failed to cite any authority which is, in fact, in conflict with any statement of the law present in the majority opinion. Further, Wren has failed to cite any authority requiring the majority to discuss any issue not present in the opinion. Accordingly, the majority did not conflict with established precedent of the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court in its decision on the CR 50 motion or the sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury verdict, and issues presented by Wren which do not address the content of the decision are of no bearing here.

b. In evaluating the Trial Court's rulings on the jury instructions, the Court of Appeals accurately stated and

applied the law in a manner consistent with appellate and Supreme Court precedent.

Wren presents two issues addressing the jury instructions:

(1) whether the court erred by rejecting Wren's Proposed Instruction 55 and (2) whether the court erred by rejecting Wren's Proposed Special Verdict Questions 55 and 56. Wren fails to demonstrate error by the appellate court's conclusion that each of the proposed instructions did not comport with established law.

Proposed Instruction 55 sought to apply absolute privilege to *every* statement made to *every* party after the lawsuit was filed, and sought to apply qualified privilege to *every* statement made to *every* party made before the lawsuit was filed. Appellate Decision at 21. The appellate court did not err by holding that this blanket generalization was neither an accurate summation of the trial court's rulings or an accurate statement of the law. *See* Appellate Decision at 21-22. The appellate court's analysis of why qualified privilege did not apply to the pre-filing

text messages in its discussion of the CR 50 motion is already sufficient to discount Proposed Instruction 55. Appellate Decision at 20. At no point has Wren cited caselaw describing how qualified immunity may protect statements, particularly text messages, (a) made to parties not involved in the lawsuit, (b) made before the commencement of official proceedings, (c) made to parties not otherwise involved with Respondent with whom Wren did not share a common or family interest, and (d) which did not protect the public interest. Appellate Decision at 20. Neither the trial court nor the appellate court was bound to accept a proposed instruction "so generalized that it risks misapplication of the law" where "the application is a legal determination, to be applied in specific cases." Appellate Decision at 21 (citing Twelker v. Shannon & Wilson, Inc., 88 Wn.2d 473, 476-79, 564 P.2d 1131 (1977)).

The appellate court held Proposed Special Verdict Questions 55 and 56 were misleading and incorrect statements of law because, *inter alia*, they were premised on the incorrect

assumption that statements of opinion cannot be defamatory. Appellate Decision at 22-23. The appellate court correctly stated the law in holding that statements in the form of an opinion may be defamatory. Appellate Decision at 22. Indeed, the appellate court identified that the text messages discussed in its analysis of the CR 50 motion implied provable facts, and thus were capable of defamatory meaning rather than statements of non-actionable opinion. Appellate Decision at 18. Wren has failed to outline why, a communication which the court determines is capable of defamatory meaning, should not be submitted to the jury to determine whether it "was so understood by its recipient." Appellate Decision at 22 Schmalenberg v. Tacoma News, 87 Wn.App. 579, 600 n.58, 943 P.2d 350 (1997) (internal quotation omitted). Not only has Wren failed to identify caselaw which conflicts with this assessment of the law, Wren cites on one of the same cases the appellate court relies on in support of the idea that the jury may rely on statements which are in the form of the opinion.

Compare Appellate Court at 18, 22 with Petition for Review at 12-14 (citing Schmalenberg v. Tacoma News, 87 Wn.App. 579, 943 P.2d 350 (1997)).

Further, the appellate court correctly held that Proposed Special Verdict Questions 55 and 56 were incorrect statements of law because they suggest that actual malice was required for each statement. Appellate Decision at 23. The appellate court concluded that Respondent is a private individual and that only negligence must be established in such case. Appellate Decision at 24 (citing Maison de France, Ltd. v. Mais Oui!, Inc., 126 Wn. App. 34, 44, 108 P.3d 787 (2005)). Wren has not cited any contradicting the appellate court's analysis or caselaw contending that the authority relied on is no longer good law. Wren cites the same authority. Petition for Review at 11, 26 (citing Maison de France). The court had already concluded that qualified privilege does not apply to every statement and thus correctly held that a Special Verdict Question appearing to

require actual malice for each statement would be misleading to the jury. Appellate Decision at 23.

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